No. 89845-6

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF
THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JOEL JOHNSON.

Petitioner/Appellant,

v.

SAFECO INSURANCE COMPANY OF AMERICA, an insurance
company, and MOUNT VERNON FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY, an
insurance company,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

of a Court of Appeals Decision in Case No. 68029-3-I

JOEL B. HANSON, ATTORNEY AT LAW, PLLC
Joel Hanson, WSBA #40814
2825 Eastlake, Ave E.
Suite #115
Seattle, WA 98102
206.412.8765

Counsel for Petitioner/Appellant Johnson

FILED
JAN 30 2014
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
CF

2014 JAN 23 AM 11 22
COUNTY APPEALS DIV 1
STATE OF WASHINGTON

IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner/Appellant/Plaintiff Joel Johnson asks this Court to accept review of the decisions terminating review.

CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Johnson seeks review of the September 26, 2013 decision by the Court of Appeals, Division I, Case No. 68029-3-I, that affirmed the trial court's summary judgment dismissal of Johnson's claims against Safeco and CR 50 dismissal of Johnson's Consumer Protection Act ("CPA") and bad faith claims against Mount Vernon. (Appendix A.) Johnson also seeks review of the December 20, 2013 Order denying his motion for reconsideration. (Appendix B.) The decision was published on January 15, 2014. (Appendix G.) This petition for review is timely because it is filed within 30 days of the January 15 order granting publication. RAP 13.4(a).

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. When an insurance company breaches its duty of good faith, violates the Consumer Protection Act, and injures an insurance customer, but 10 months later the customer makes a material misrepresentation that does not harm the insurance company, is the customer barred from any remedy for the violations that preceded the misrepresentation?

2. Where a mortgage company is responsible for paying a customer's insurance premium and makes a payment error, and where the customer's insurance company fails to comply with statutory and contractual provisions that require it to send a notice of nonpayment to the mortgage company prior to any cancellation, and where this results in the inadvertent cancellation of the customer's insurance policy prior to a fire, does the customer have a remedy against the insurance company?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Safeco Failed to Notify Johnson's Mortgage Company Prior to Cancelling Johnson's Policy

Johnson's house was destroyed by a fire on January 25, 2009. (CP 117.) Johnson had a homeowner's insurance policy contract with Safeco during the 25 years leading up to that date. (CP 118 at ¶ 3.)

In 2008, the year prior to the fire, Johnson refinanced his mortgage with Taylor, Bean, & Whitaker Mortgage Corporation ("Taylor Bean"). (CP 118 at ¶ 4.) Taylor Bean required Johnson to pay his Safeco insurance premium into an escrow account held by Taylor Bean so that it could ensure he was current with Safeco at all times. (CP 118 at ¶ 4.) Accordingly, Taylor Bean was fully responsible for redirecting Johnson's

premium payments to Safeco. (CP 118 at ¶ 4.)

On September 28, 2008, Safeco mailed Johnson a renewal policy that stated it would become effective on November 17, 2008. (CP 41 at ¶ 2; CP 46-52.) The renewal policy named Taylor Bean as the mortgagee (CP 48) and a copy of the policy was sent to Taylor Bean. (CP 41 at ¶ 2.) In response, Taylor Bean sent Safeco a batch payment on behalf of Johnson and other Taylor Bean customers who had policies with Safeco. (CP 113.) But that payment was later stopped due to some unknown error. (CP 116.) Safeco did not notify Taylor Bean of the payment error or request another check. (*See* CP 41-43.)

Instead of notifying Taylor Bean, Safeco sent Johnson a letter on December 2, 2008 notifying him that it had not received payment from him and that his coverage would be terminated if he did not send payment by January 5, 2009. (CP 41 and 54.) Johnson never saw that letter and was unaware of the payment error. (CP 118 at ¶ 5.) Even if he had seen that letter, it would have been reasonable for him to expect that Taylor Bean would correct its payment error as soon as it was notified by Safeco. But no such notification letter was sent to Taylor Bean. (*See* CP 41-43.) As a result, Taylor Bean did not correct its payment error.

This failure to notify Taylor Bean breached the terms of the insurance policy contract with Safeco. The policy provided:

If the policy is cancelled or not renewed by us, the mortgagee will be notified at least 20 days before the date cancellation or nonrenewal takes effect.

(CP 50.) This failure to notify Taylor Bean also violated a Washington statute. RCW 48.18.290(1)(a)(ii) requires that an insurance company send a cancellation notice that states “the insurer’s actual reason for cancelling the policy.” If the cancellation is for nonpayment, that notice must be sent at least 10 days prior to the effective date of cancellation. RCW 48.18.290(1)(c). The statute further provides: “Like notice must also be so delivered or mailed to each *mortgagee*, pledgee, or other person shown by the policy to have an interest in any loss which may occur thereunder.” RCW 48.18.290(1)(e) (emphasis added).

Finally, on January 11, 2009, Safeco sent Taylor Bean a “Notice of Cancellation.” (CP 58.) But the notice was too late because it stated that the cancellation date was February 5, 2009. (CP 58.) Johnson’s house was destroyed by an accidental fire on January 25, 2009, which was 11 days prior to the cancellation date. (CP 117.)

When Johnson contacted Safeco, it told him that his policy had been cancelled and there was no coverage. (CP 43 at ¶ 8 and CP 2021.) This cancellation could have been avoided if Taylor Bean had been timely notified pursuant to the contract and Washington law.

The purported lack of insurance triggered coverage under a “lender-

placed” insurance policy contract between Taylor Bean and Mount Vernon. (CP 1989 at ¶ 6.) That policy had been purchased by Taylor Bean on February 1, 2008, almost a year before the fire, and covered all Taylor Bean’s mortgage properties in the event that the homeowner had not purchased a primary insurance policy. (See CP 197.)

B. Mount Vernon Acted in Bad Faith when it Wrongfully Canceled Payment to Johnson, Delayed Payment for Nine Months, and Waited Two Years to Finally Pay the Full Amount it Owed for the Structure Damage

It is undisputed that Johnson was a beneficiary of the Mount Vernon policy and was insured for the fire damage. (See CP 322 at line 3, VRP 51 at lines 5-12.) Accordingly, Mount Vernon owed him a duty of good faith and was required to pay for the cost of repairing his home. On February 25, 2009, one month after the fire, Mount Vernon sent Johnson a payment of \$131,125 for the cost of repairing his house. (See CP 323.) But it did not honor this payment.

On March 4, 2009, Mount Vernon learned that Safeco’s policy might have been effective at the time of the fire. (CP 324 at ¶ 2.) As a result, Mount Vernon immediately cancelled its payment to Johnson for the structure repairs. (CP 324 at ¶ 3.)

Two months later, on May 27, 2009, a Mount Vernon employee named Maureen Connor told Johnson that the cost for the structure repair

was still “being handled by us and Safeco.” (CP 307; CP 328 at ¶ 1.) Mount Vernon refused to make any payment for the cost of structure repairs until October of 2009. (CP 318.) This was nine months after the fire.

On July 6, 2010, which was 17 months after the fire, Mount Vernon finally agreed that its original estimate was wrong and that the actual cost to repair the house was approximately \$204,442. (CP 342 at ¶ 4-5.) This was \$70,000 more than Mount Vernon’s original estimate of \$133,041. (CP 323 at ¶ 2.) Mount Vernon did not issue the supplemental payment for the cost of repairs until February 9, 2011—a full two years after the fire. (CP 373; *see also* CP 342 at ¶ 5.) As a result of these extensive delays, Johnson’s house was never repaired. (CP 1991 at ¶ 13.)

Mount Vernon’s failure to timely pay Johnson for the structure repairs breached its duty of good faith. The delay was unreasonable and placed Mount Vernon’s interests above Johnson’s. An insurer is liable for bad faith if its actions were unreasonable, frivolous, or unfounded. *Mut. of Enumclaw Ins. Co. v. Dan Paulson Const., Inc.*, 161 Wn.2d 903, 916, 169 P.3d 1 (2007). Additionally, an insurer acts in bad faith when it places its own interests above the interests of its insured. *Tank v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.*, 105 Wn.2d 381, 386, 715 P.2d 1133 (1986). Mount Vernon’s delay also violated the CPA because any breach of the duty of good faith constitutes a *per se* violation of the CPA. *Salois v. Mut. of Omaha Ins. Co.*,

90 Wn.2d 355, 359, 581 P.2d 1349 (1978).

C. Johnson Fabricated a Lease Because Mount Vernon Incorrectly Told Him He Needed a Lease to Receive ALE Coverage

Around November 2009, about 10 months after the fire, Johnson fabricated a written lease based on his misguided belief that such a written document was necessary for Mount Vernon to pay him for his additional living expenses. (CP 832-33; *see also* CP 385-86.) Johnson did this without the knowledge of his attorneys. As discussed below, this fabrication would not have occurred but for Mount Vernon's failure to comply with the insurance regulations.

At the time of the fabrication, Johnson was emotionally vulnerable and was in a desperate financial situation. Emotionally, Johnson was still recovering from Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder as a result of his narrow escape from the fire.¹ (CP 2021.) Financially, Johnson had very little income (CP 1992 at ¶ 18; CP 119-120 at ¶ 10) and he was struggling to make

¹ Johnson was diagnosed with symptoms of Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder resulting from the fire. (CP 2021.) The fire spread throughout his home (CP 323 at ¶ 2.) and Johnson might not have escaped the fire but for the assistance of his neighbor. (CP 1989 at line 1; *see also* CP 2021.)

payments on two mortgages.² (CP 1992 at ¶ 19.) Along with the structure of his house, most of his personal belongings had been destroyed in the fire. (*See* CP 1991 at ¶ 17.) While waiting for Mount Vernon to pay for the structure repairs, Johnson exhausted his retirement savings and could not afford the additional living expenses caused by the fire. (CP 1992 at ¶ 18-20.) Johnson was forced to seek assistance from the Department of Social and Health Services in order to buy food. (CP 1992 at ¶ 18-20.)

Like other homeowner insurance policies, the Mount Vernon policy provided coverage for the additional living expenses (ALE) incurred by a homeowner in order to maintain his or her normal standard of living. (CP 261 at D.1.) Such ALE would include the cost of renting another house until the damaged house was repaired. (*See id.*)

But Mount Vernon failed to properly inform Johnson about his ALE coverage. Immediately after the fire, Johnson told Mount Vernon representative Tony Brown that Johnson had moved into his own rental property. (CP 1190 at line 2.) Brown told Johnson that it was fine to live there. (CP 1190 at line 3; *see also* CP 1174.) But on May 27, 2009, four months after the fire, Mount Vernon told Johnson that it would not

² In addition to the mortgage on the home that was destroyed by the fire, around 2008 he had inherited his mother's house and the corresponding mortgage. (*See* CP 1992 at ¶ 18-19 *and* CP 482-483 at pages 5-7.)

compensate him for the cost of living in his *own* rental property. (CP 328 at ¶ 1.) Mount Vernon took the position that living in his own rental property did not constitute an increase in expenses under the policy language.³ (CP 328 at ¶ 5.) In other words, Johnson should have moved into a rental property owned by someone else in order to receive payment for his ALE coverage.

All three of Mount Vernon's agents testified that Johnson was wrongfully allowed to believe that he would be compensated for the cost of living in his own rental home. (CP 1048, 1174, 1179-81.) This occurred because Brown had no authority to discuss the parameters of coverage with Johnson. (CP 1174-75.)

Washington insurance regulations specified that Mount Vernon was required to inform Johnson that this ALE coverage was available:

No insurer shall fail to fully disclose to first party claimants all pertinent benefits, coverages or other provisions of an insurance policy or insurance contract under which a claim is presented.

WAC 284-30-350(1). Further, Mount Vernon was required to provide Johnson with instructions for utilizing that ALE coverage:

Upon receiving notification of a claim, every insurer must promptly provide necessary claim forms, instructions, and reasonable assistance so that first party claimants can comply with the policy conditions and the insurer's reasonable requirements.

³ This is in spite of the fact that, due to his occupancy of it, Johnson was unable to rent the residence in which he was staying.

WAC 284-30-360(4).⁴

After failing to properly explain the ALE coverage, Mount Vernon refused to pay Johnson any money for his additional living expenses. (CP 329 at ¶ 1.) In response, Johnson accused Mount Vernon of “misrepresenting” the policy provisions. (CP 329 at ¶ 1.) Recognizing its mistake, on May 29, 2009, Mount Vernon agreed to pay Johnson \$1,250 a month for additional living expenses. (*Id.* at ¶ 5.) Mount Vernon noted that “we will owe more” for the future months. (*Id.*)

Mount Vernon never made another ALE payment. When Johnson asked James Ziff, a Mount Vernon employee, for the unpaid ALE on September 21, 2009, Ziff refused to pay him any additional money. (CP 332 at ¶ 2.) Ziff had previously told Johnson that Mount Vernon was not obligated to pay him any money for ALE because “You didn’t have [the house] rented, and you didn’t document that you could have had it rented.” (CP 1170 at line 10.) Connor had also informed Johnson that his rental house did not appear to be covered because “there is no way for him to prove the rental would have been occupied by paying tenants” and “there was no

⁴ A single violation of these WAC regulations constituted an unfair or deceptive act or practice under the CPA. *Anderson v. State Farm Mut. Ins. Co.*, 101 Wn. App. 323, 331, 2 P.3d 1029 (2000) citing *Industrial Indem. Co. v. Kallevig*, 114 Wn.2d 907, 924, 792 P.2d 520 (1990).

lease/agreement that was cancelled due to the loss.” (CP 328 at ¶ 7-8.)

Finally, around November 2009, about 10 months after the fire, Johnson fabricated a written lease to prove that renters had lived in his rental home. (CP 832-33; *see also* CP 385-86.) While Johnson did have tenants living in his rental house, they never actually signed a written lease with Johnson and the rent they paid was less than Johnson claimed. (CP 1189-90.) The submission of the fabricated lease proved to be inconsequential. After Mount Vernon reviewed the lease, it still refused to make any additional ALE payments. (CP 388-90.) Accordingly, the fabricated lease did not harm Mount Vernon in any way.

D. Procedural History

On January 7, 2011, the Superior Court granted Safeco’s motion for summary judgment and dismissed all claims against Safeco on the basis that the policy had been properly cancelled. (CP 156-57.) On the first day of trial, the Superior Court granted Mount Vernon’s CR 50 motion to have all Johnson’s claims dismissed. (VRP 121-24; *see also* CP 1656.) The claims against Mount Vernon were dismissed solely on the basis that Johnson had fabricated the lease 10 months after the fire. (*Id.*) Though it granted Mount Vernon’s motion, the Superior Court later acknowledged that “Mount Vernon delayed payment of this claim for a lengthy period, and [committed] CPA violations.” (CP 1984 at ¶ 1.)

The Court of Appeals decision affirmed the dismissal of all claims against Mount Vernon. (Appendix A.) The decision rejected Johnson's argument that the fabricated lease should not have a retroactive effect on the bad faith and CPA violations that preceded it. (Appendix A at 16.)

The Court of Appeals decision also affirmed the dismissal of all claims against Safeco. The Court of Appeals found that Johnson's interest in the policy was not protected by the contractual and statutory notice provisions pertaining to the mortgagee. (Appendix A at 7.)

Safeco and Mount Vernon both moved for the publication of the decision. (Appendix D and E.) Though they were not parties, Allstate Insurance Company and Farmers Insurance Company of Washington also filed a joint-motion to publish. (Appendix F.) The decision was published on January 15, 2014. (Appendix G.)

ARGUMENT CONCERNING MOUNT VERNON

Concise Statement Concerning Mount Vernon

The Appellate Court's decision should be reviewed because it is the first case where a court has retroactively barred an insured from seeking a remedy for bad faith and CPA violations that occurred prior to a fraud or misrepresentation. The decision diminishes the rights of insurance customers, it will reward insurance companies for acting in bad faith, and it will encourage insurance companies to wrongfully accuse their

customers of fraud.

A. The Court of Appeals Decision Concerns an Issue of Substantial Public Interest Because It Rewards Insurance Companies for Acting in Bad Faith

An issue of substantial public importance exists here because the Court of Appeals decision rewards an insurance company that acts in bad faith. Review by the Supreme Court is proper under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

The decision is the first time that any court has ruled that fraud or misrepresentation by an insured has such an absolute, retroactive effect. The decision will have a wide-ranging effect on how insurance companies handle insurance claims. In the subject case, Mount Vernon wrongfully withheld payment and put enormous financial pressure on Johnson during a time of desperate need. This pressure ultimately led him to make the foolhardy decision to fabricate a lease. The Court of Appeals decision rewards Mount Vernon for its bad faith behavior.

Insurance companies are rational actors. They are profit-motivated entities and their behavior is determined by an actuarial evaluation of the costs and benefits of potential business strategies. If Washington diminishes the remedies afforded to customers, insurance companies will alter their behavior accordingly. For example, insurers might under-staff their Washington offices if they believe that there is a lower risk of being penalized for mishandling claims.

If an insurance company can avoid all liability for its bad faith conduct by showing that its customer made a misrepresentation in response to its bad faith, insurance companies will have a perverse incentive to mistreat vulnerable customers and accuse them of lying. If, during a claim, an insurer learns that its own employees have committed bad faith and litigation is imminent, its best defense may be to “declare war” on its customer in order to escalate the dispute and increase the possibility that the insured will make a misrepresentation.

B. This Issue Has Never Before Been Addressed by a Court

The Court of Appeals decision is based on *Mut. of Enumclaw Insurance Co. v. Cox*, 110 Wn.2d 643, 757 P.2d 499 (1988). *Cox* enforced policy language that voided coverage when an insured materially misrepresented their insurance claim. *Cox* also found that an insured who makes a misrepresentation or fraud should be barred from suing his or her insurance company for extra-contractual claims such as bad faith and violations of the CPA. While Johnson’s case involves a fabricated document, *Cox* also applies to oral misrepresentations and *Cox* is invoked in every bad faith case where the insurer accuses its insured of a lie.

Until now, no Washington court has ever applied the *Cox* rule retroactively. As Safeco explained in their Motion to Publish, the issue presented is novel and “this is the first Washington decision on this point.”

(Appendix D at 4.) Mount Vernon agreed and explained:

While [*Cox*] clearly states that misrepresentations made during the claim process bar coverage, **it does not address the situation where there is alleged bad faith conduct which precedes the misrepresentations.** Publishing this decision will clarify *Cox* to include such situations as this where an insured alleges that he was forced to act fraudulently by an insured's alleged bad faith conduct.

(Appendix E at 4.) (Emphasis added.) The Court of Appeals decision appears to be the first time that any court, in any jurisdiction, has given a retroactive effect to the rule expressed in *Cox*.

C. Traditionally, Washington Contract Law Places Great Emphasis on the Timing of Breaches

Washington has long held that the timing of a contractual breach is essential to the analysis of any contract dispute. After one party materially breaches a contract, the other party has the right to withhold further performance. *Rosen v. Ascentry Technologies, Inc.*, 143 Wn. App. 364, 369, 177 P.3d 765, 767 (2008). “A party is barred from enforcing a contract that it has materially breached.” *Id.* citing *Bailie Communications, Ltd. v. Trend Bus. Sys.*, 53 Wn. App. 77, 81, 765 P.2d 339 (1988) (“material failure by one party gives the other party the right to withhold further performance”). Correspondingly, the failure to make a timely payment is a material breach that discharges the other party’s duties under

the contract. *Jacks v. Blazer*, 39 Wash. 2d 277, 286, 235 P.2d 187, 192 (1951); *see also 224 Westlake, LLC v. Engstrom Properties, LLC*, 169 Wn. App. 700, 281 P.3d 693 (2012).

The rule established by *Cox* arises from the terms of the insurance contract. Under well-settled Washington law, Mount Vernon's breach of the duty of good faith should not be absolved by Johnson's breach, the fabrication of the lease, which occurred many months later. Instead, Mount Vernon's breaches should bar it from enforcing the contract concerning Johnson's subsequent misrepresentation. Contrary to the Court of Appeals decision, timing does matter.

D. Civil Actions by Customers are the Only Way to Hold Insurance Companies Accountable and Discourage Bad Faith

The Office of the Insurance Commissioner has testified that it does not have the authority or resources to prosecute insurers such as Mount Vernon for their wrongful conduct in individual claims. (CP 1350-51.) As a result, actions by customers such as Johnson are the *only* mechanism that exists to hold insurers accountable when they commit bad faith and violate the insurance regulations. The Court of Appeals decision to expand *Cox* and apply it retroactively will allow more insurance companies to avoid accountability regardless of how egregious their conduct.

E. The Insurance Industry is Watching this Case Closely

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