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

### 5. Argument and Authority

a. Mr. Johnson received two timely and unequivocal notices of non-renewal of his insurance policy, and no "public interest" would be served by further appellate review of his claims against Safeco.

Mr. Johnson claims that his Petition raises "an issue of substantial public interest," because insureds "should have a remedy if their policy is cancelled as a result of their insurance company's failure to notify their mortgage company of a payment error." His claim misses the mark entirely – because that is not what this case is about at all

As a threshold matter, Safeco did not "cancel" Mr. Johnson's policy pursuant to RCW 48.18.290. Our courts long have recognized a fundamental difference between *non-renewal* of an insurance policy because an insured has failed to pay the premium required to obtain coverage for a subsequent policy term; and *cancellation* of an insurance policy during the policy term, which may occur for a number of different reasons – including the insured's own direction to the insurer to cancel the policy and return a portion of the premiums already paid. Johnson's policy was not cancelled – it was not

unprotected by the non-renewal of his Safeco policy – but because his alleged status as a Safeco policyholder is the essential prerequisite to his "bad faith" claims against Safeco, for which he hopes to obtain punitive damages and an award of attorney's fees. The trial court rejected Mr. Johnson's specious arguments; Division I declined to bend the law to accommodate Mr. Johnson's demands; and this Court should do the same.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> As Division I's decision explains, Safeco "non-renewed" Johnson's policy – it did not "cancel" he policy. Notice of non-renewal is not subject to the standards applicable to cancellations under the statute. Slip opinion at 12, quoting *Safeco* 

renewed after expiration of the policy term, because no one paid the premium required to buy Safeco homeowner's insurance coverage for a new policy term. <sup>13</sup> Before Johnson's policy was to expire, Safeco gave Johnson six weeks' notice prior to the expiration date, so he would know a premium had to be paid to obtain coverage for a new policy term.

After the policy expired, Safeco gave Johnson a second notice and a second chance – advising that his policy had not been renewed and providing explicit directions about what he could do to make sure his coverage would be renewed and reinstated retroactive to the original expiration date. Safeco gave Johnson just short of a full month thereafter to do something to ensure coverage would be reinstated. By his own admission, Johnson did nothing because he "expected" the problem would take care of itself.

In fact, Mr. Johnson's problem *did* take care of itself. Once it was clear Mr. Johnson would do nothing to reinstate and *renew* the policy, Safeco notified his mortgage company, Taylor Bean, that it would *cancel* the coverage the Safeco policy still extended to the lienholder, despite the insured's failure to renew; and Safeco did so in full compliance with the

Insurance Co. v. Irish, 37 Wn. App. 554, 557-58, 681 P.2d 1294 (1984). Nevertheless, Safeco gave Mr. Johnson more than the minimum notice required to cancel his policy under the cancellation statute – he was notified six weeks before the renewal date; and then provided four weeks to reinstate the policy before the expiration of the policy became final.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Id.

cancellation statute and the policy provisions in which Safeco stated the procedure it would follow to terminate a lienholder's interest.

After Taylor Bean learned the Safeco policy had been non-renewed, it placed coverage on behalf of Mr. Johnson that extended not only to Taylor Bean's own interest as a lienholder. Taylor Bean obtained coverage to protect Mr. Johnson's equity in the home, as well as his personal property, and even his additional living expenses.

There is no "substantial public interest" in Mr. Johnson's claims against Safeco, or in any aspect of his lawsuit. Between them, Safeco and Mount Vernon saved Mr. Johnson's bacon, pure and simple. In return, Mr. Johnson admittedly fabricated documents and defrauded Mount Vernon because he believed Mount Vernon should pay him more money – and then he sued Mount Vernon and Safeco for alleged "bad faith."

Not only is there no "substantial public interest" in the issues Mr. Johnson has asked this Court to review, there is also no other justification for Supreme Court review of the issues in this case. Johnson's Petition asserts, with virtually no explanation, that Safeco violated RCW 48.18.290; and that Safeco did not comply with the provisions of the insurance policy and unspecified "Washington law." In fact, as Division I's opinion explains in exquisite detail, Safeco did comply with the provisions of the policy; its non-

renewal of the policy was not subject to RCW 48.18.290; and even if RCW 48.18.290 *did* apply, Safeco complied with the statute anyway.<sup>14</sup>

Division I's decision does not create a conflict among the Divisions of the Court of Appeals; it does not conflict with authorities from this Court; it does not raise any issues under the state or federal constitutions; and it raises no issues of "substantial public interest."

Johnson's Petition fails to establish – or even to directly address in a meaningful way -- any of the criteria for Supreme Court review under RAP 13.4. The Petition should be denied.

# b. Notice to the lienholder was not required to accomplish effective notice of non-renewal to Mr. Johnson.

Johnson argues that when an insurer is aware that a policyholder has made arrangements to have a mortgagee pay his homeowner's insurance premium, the insurer should be required to provide prior notice of non-renewal to the *mortgagee* as a condition precedent to effective notice to the *policyholder/homeowner*. He cites no authority for this novel proposition – and there is none. In fact, the reported Washington decisions are directly to the contrary. 16

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Slip opinion at 9-15; Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration and Amending Opinion at 1-2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Petition at 17-20.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Slip opinion at 15; Wisniewski v. State Farm General insurance Co., 25 Wn. App. 766, 609 P.2d 456 (1980) (insurer sent notice of cancellation to policyholders, but not to lienholder; notice effectively cancelled coverage as to policyholders while lienholder's interest remained unaffected).

Johnson's Petition does not even acknowledge the contrary authorities exist, much less attempt to distinguish them, or to argue they are ill-founded and should be modified. Indeed, these authorities have stood the test of time, and the facts of this case certainly do not demonstrate a need to modify them.

Nor is there support for Johnson's Petition in the wording of the Safeco policy, which protects the separate interest of the *lienholder*, even when coverage is not available to the *policyholder*, whether because the policyholder has failed to renew, <sup>17</sup> or because an alleged agent of the policyholder has directed the insurer to cancel the policy<sup>18</sup> – or because the policyholder has forfeited coverage by committing fraud. <sup>19</sup>

The policy provisions for notice to a lienholder are separate from the notice provisions that apply to the policyholder and are contained in the policy's "Mortgage Clause," which addresses not only notice of cancellation, but other rights that are extended to a lienholder, even when the policyholder has forfeited coverage for himself. Johnson's argument that the "Mortgage

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> See, Safeco Insurance Co. v. Irish, 37 Wn. App. at 557-58.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> See, Olivine Corporation v. United Capitol Insurance Company, 147 Wn.2d 148, 162, 52 P.3d 494 (2002) (separate notice required as to each party with an interest in the policy; putative agent of the insured directed the insurer to cancel the policy – agency not shown and thus cancellation not effective as to policyholder unless policyholder was given statutory notice of cancellation and opportunity to keep policy in force).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> See, Mutual of Enumclaw v. Cox, 110 Wn.2d 643, 757 P.2d 499 (1988) (insured's misrepresentation in presentation of claim forfeited coverage and extracontractual claims; and also could require insured to return insurance benefits previously paid for the claim).

Clause" is intended to protect *the policyholder* flies in the face of the plain meaning of the policy wording, which ensures that *the lienholder* will be protected -- even if the policyholder himself is not entitled to coverage under the policy:

#### 12. Mortgage Clause.

The word "mortgagee" includes trustee. If a mortgagee is named in this policy, any loss payable under Coverage A or B shall be paid to the mortgagee and you, as interests appear. If more than one mortgagee is named, the order of payment shall be the same as the order of precedence of the mortgages.

If we deny your claim, that denial shall not apply to a valid claim of the mortgagee, if the mortgagee: ...

**b.** pays any premium due under this policy on demand if you have neglected to pay the premium; ...

Policy conditions relating to Appraisal, Suit Against Us and Loss Payment apply to the mortgagee. If the policy is canceled or not renewed by us, the mortgagee shall be notified at least 20 days before the date of cancellation or nonrenewal takes effect.<sup>20</sup>

Johnson's Petition misleadingly quotes a single sentence from this "Mortgage Clause" – and boldly asserts that "failure to notify Taylor Bean breached the terms of the insurance policy with Safeco." The full text of the Mortgage Clause makes it plain the policy expressly provides that the policy extends coverage to lienholders that is independent from the coverage extended to the policyholder; and that the policyholder's coverage may be non-renewed, cancelled, or denied without affecting the protection afforded

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> CP 50.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Petition at 3-4.

to the lienholder. The policy, the cases and the cancellation statute all have been read to permit termination of the insured's interest without affecting the lienholder's interest – and the other way around.

Furthermore, the facts in our case do not support Johnson's theory that concurrent notice to the lienholder and the policyholder is necessary to "provide a remedy" to a policyholder who relies on his mortgagee to pay homeowner's insurance premiums. <sup>22</sup> When Mr. Johnson's mortgagee failed to pay the renewal premium when it fell due on November 17, 2008, Safeco sent Mr. Johnson a very clear notice, days later, that told him that his mortgagee had *not* paid the premium; and Safeco urged Johnson to contact the mortgagee to make sure the premium was paid – or simply pay the premium himself and sort it out with the mortgagee later.

From that moment on, Johnson had ample notice and opportunity to ensure his home was covered under the Safeco homeowner's policy. The notice gave Mr. Johnson a full month to reinstate and backdate coverage -- as though the policy had never expired. It gave Mr. Johnson telephone numbers to call to inquire into the status of his policy. It counseled Mr. Johnson to call his insurance agent to make sure his coverage would be reinstated and told Mr. Johnson that he could pay the premium by mail or by telephone – even using a credit card if he wished. *Most importantly, the* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Petition at 17.

notice urged Mr. Johnson to promptly contact his mortgagee if he had been relying on the mortgagee to make periodic premium payments.

Mr. Johnson did none of these things – and now argues that he did not receive "adequate notice." In fact, he received notice that served all of the essential functions of a notice of non-renewal or cancellation. The purpose of the notice requirement is to enable an insured to take appropriate action in the face of an impending or actual lapse in coverage. This allows the insured to make the premium payments in default, obtain other insurance, or prepare to proceed without insurance.<sup>23</sup>

But notice to the policyholder can only serve its essential purpose if the policyholder takes the trouble to *read and respond* to the notice that he receives. The notices that Safeco gave to Mr. Johnson failed because Mr. Johnson ignored those notices — not because the notices were untimely, unclear or insufficient in any way.

The notice procedure that Safeco used complied with the plain terms of the policy; the cancellation statute, RCW 48.18.290; and common sense. The policy separately grants contract rights to the policyholder and to the lienholder, who have different interests in the insurance policy. The lienholder has no interest in the homeowner's equity in the home, nor any interest in insuring the homeowner's personal property, or his living expenses in the event of a loss. The lienholder is interested in preservation

Olivine Corporation v. United Capitol Insurance Company, 147 Wn.2d 148, 162, 52 P.3d 494 (2002).

of the collateral for the mortgage. The homeowner, on the other hand, has a limited interest in the lienholder's rights, particularly under a non-recourse mortgage. Under the policy and the cancellation statute, each is given notice so each will have the ability – and the responsibility -- to protect his own interest in the insurance coverage. Notice to the policyholder is effective without notice to the lienholder.<sup>24</sup>

In our own case, the notice that Safeco sent to Mr. Johnson gave him ample opportunity to protect his own interest in the insurance policy – including the insurance for the contents of his house and for the cost of alternate housing in the event of a major loss – coverage that was of no importance to the lienholder whatsoever. In the end, the lienholder procured all of that coverage for Mr. Johnson in any event.

Mr. Johnson simply did not avail himself of the notice and opportunity that he received. That is why Mr. Johnson was no longer a Safeco insured at the time of the fire on January 25, 2009 – not because of any defect in the timely and unequivocal notices that Safeco provided to Mr. Johnson.

### 6. Conclusion

The trial court and the Court of Appeals, both in its Opinion and its Order Denying Reconsideration, correctly concluded that Safeco properly

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Wisniewski v. State Farm General Insurance Company, 25 Wn. App. 766, 609 P.2d 456 (1980). Although Johnson attempted to distinguish Wisniewski on reconsideration in Division I, his Petition does not even cite the decision, much less argue this Court should overrule or modify the Wisniewski holding.

notified Mr. Johnson of the impending expiration of his homeowners insurance policy and gave him adequate notice and opportunity to reinstate that policy when the premium was not paid on time. Through his own neglect, and failure to take steps to ensure that his Safeco coverage would remain in place, he was no longer a Safeco insured when a fire damaged his house on January 25, 2009.

Luckily for Mr. Johnson, his mortgagee did take steps to protect his interests as well as its own security interest in the property. As a result, Mr. Johnson had coverage in place for his equity in the real property, for his personal property and for his additional living expenses. Unfortunately, Mr. Johnson may have forfeited that coverage because he chose to lie in an effort to bulk up his claim. That, however, does not change the simple fact Safeco did not insure Mr. Johnson on the date of loss, as a matter of law.

The Court should deny Johnson's Petition for Review.